FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/30/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### No. 1034164

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 85015-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### GREGORY RYAN and NEREYDA RYAN,

Petitioners,

V.

### **CITY OF RENTON and DANIEL WIITANEN,**

Respondents.

### **AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW**

LAW OFFICE OF JONATHAN R. RAPPAPORT Jonathan R. Rappaport, WSBA #20028 P.O. Box 27783, Seattle, WA 98165 Phone: (206) 634-0711 Fax: (206) 632-7595 Email: JRR@LawyerJon.com Attorney for Petitioners

## **

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Gregory Ryan and Nereyda Ryan (Ryans) seek review of the decisions identified in part II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On June 10, 2024, the Court of Appeals, Division I, denied Ryans' appeal seeking reversal of the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of City of Renton (Renton). Appendix A. On July 29, 2024, the Court of Appeals denied Ryans' motion for reconsideration. Appendix B.

#### **III. INTRODUCTION**

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision erred on four fundamental issues: two regarding summary judgment and two regarding municipal immunity for dangerous roads. Each error conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Each deprived Ryans their Const. art. I, § 21, right to trial. RAP 13.4(b)(3). And each are of substantial public interest, as the errors imperil all civil litigants. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

#### **IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**A.** After repeatedly striking Ryans' 30(b)(6) deposition of Renton for 4 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> months without tenable grounds, the trial court permitted it with a much-narrowed scope, just a week before Ryans' summary judgment response was due. Renton's witnesses admitted not preparing and admitted Renton withheld material road maintenance, complaints, collisions, and notice evidence. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding the trial court's denial of Ryans' CR 56(f) motion for continuance to conduct additional discovery?

**B.** Ryans presented the trial court 11 genuine issues of material fact barring Renton's summary judgment dismissal, including expert testimony that the road was dangerous and deceptive; raised pavement markers (RPMs) were missing; the road was mismarked in violation of required city, state, and federal standards; and Renton had prior notice but failed to correct the road. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding the trial court's CR 56(c) summary judgment dismissal of Renton?

C. *Ruff v. King County*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995), was narrowly decided on specific facts, none of which present here. Here, the road *was* mismarked; RPMs *were* missing; a *\$22* approach line *was* required and updating *was* required; and Ryans' expert testified the road *was* dangerous and deceptive, but an approach line *would have* prevented injury. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding Renton's summary judgment dismissal based on *Ruff*?

**D.** Washington prohibited passing on the road before Renton annexed it in 1978. Renton required a no-passing approach line since 2004. The federal MUTCD required marking the road uniformly with correctly-marked South 55th Street since 2009. Despite claiming regular inspections prior to the 2016 collision, Renton negligently kept the road dangerously mismarked. Renton *had* actual or constructive notice, though caselaw requires neither here. Did the Court of Appeals err by upholding Renton's summary judgment dismissal based on lack of notice?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Collision

Daniel Wiitanen (Wiitanen) struck Gregory Ryan early morning, March 13, 2016, on Renton's Talbot Road South (Talbot). CP 595. It was pitch-black and raining. CP 595, 603. Ryan sustained serious injuries, including many broken bones, multiple surgeries, and permanent limitations. CP 5-6, 388-92.

Wiitanen was driving southbound on Talbot. CP 597. Ryan had just turned northbound on Talbot from South 55th Street (55th). CP 388-92, 597. Wiitanen angled over the single skip (passing allowed) centerline, south of the gore point (where the center turn lane ends and northbound and southbound Talbot converge). CP 388-92, 595, 658. He crashed into Ryan 50 feet north of the intersection. *Id.*; CP 600-01, 603.

At the scene, Wiitanen told police "he was tired and was clearing his eyes just prior to the collision." CP 597. Wiitanen never suggested he had fallen asleep, nor did police determine this as a contributing factor of the collision. CP 595, box 27.

#### B. The Road

Talbot is a north/south arterial posted at 35 mph with no stop sign, stop light, or warning lights. CP 580-81, 587-88. 55th has a stop sign at the intersection with Talbot. CP 584, 598, 603. The gore point was 184 feet north of the north edge of 55th (CP 587), and approximately150 feet north of the north curb return of Talbot with 55th. CP 695:2-10.

Between the gore point and the intersection, Talbot was marked with a single skip centerline comprised solely of RPMs. CP 581-83, 588, 598, 609-12, 696:7-19. Renton defined an approach line (a "solid" double row of RPMs prohibiting passing) as "the centerline when you're approaching an intersection" (CP 689:5-7) or a gore point. CP 689:8-9.

In contrast, Renton correctly marked 55th with an approach line (CP 581-82, 607; Ryans' July 1, 2024, motion for reconsideration, Ex 2) over 400 feet long (CP 694:6-695:1) prior to June 2010 (CP 605; Ryans' July 1, 2024, motion for reconsideration, Ex 1), even though Talbot was more heavily traveled than 55th. CP 692:13-19. 55th complied with Renton's Channelization Markers Detail Standard Plan 109 of April 2004. CP 609-12. Appendix C.

Single skip centerline RPMs were missing on Talbot from south of the gore point to the intersection. CP 582-83, 585, 587, 627 (patrol car video capture showing missing RPMs on March 13, 2016); Court of Appeals' decision, 11 ("[W]e assume that some RPMs were missing on Talbot Road S. at the time of the collision.") (Appendix A).

#### C. Road History, Maintenance, and Notice

Renton annexed Talbot from King County in 1978 and bore responsibility for its upkeep since 1978. CP 690:5-691:7.

In response to what changes were made to Talbot, including "installation of raised pavement markers ("RPMs"), Renton answered "The accident location has remained in substantially the same condition between 2002 and the present." CP 723. Renton produced no maintenance, inspection, repair, or RPM replacement information or documents for Talbot in response to Ryans' interrogatories and requests for production. CP 737.

Renton claimed, without producing any documentation, that Talbot was inspected by the Sign and Marking Supervisor every year (CP 724) and by the Transportation Manager every three years. *Id.*; *contra* CP 585-86, 667, 685 (Renton employees visited Talbot on September 23, 2015, in response to a July 28, 2015, citizen complaint of southbound Talbot vehicles passing at the intersection with 55th).

#### D. Ryans Denied Timely 30(b)(6) Deposition of Renton

Ryans set and timely served notice of Renton's deposition for Monday, June 6, 2022 (CP 219-31), but the trial court struck it on Friday afternoon, June 3, 2022. CP 965:14-16; RP 119:14-16.

The court also forbade Ryans from deposing Renton until Ryans had been deposed (*id.*), but gave no justification. Ryans had made themselves available for deposition weeks earlier (RP 105:10-11; 110:10-13) as well as after June 6, 2022, discovery cutoff (RP 106:9-11), but Renton never deposed the Ryans.

The court denied Ryans' September 16, 2022 (CP 65-85), motion to change the trial date. The court then struck Ryans' deposition of Renton set for October 7, 2022. CP 264-77. The court repeatedly made Ryans narrow their list of deposition topics, even two days for the eventual deposition on October 21, 2022. CP 951,

#### E. Renton Unprepared and Withheld Evidence

Renton's designated witnesses came unprepared. CP 550-54. Both witnesses were not prepared to answer topics listed and approved for deposition. The witnesses acknowledged that discovery relevant to notice, standards, and studies had existed but had not been produced back in June 2022. *Id*.

#### F. Ryans' Response Opposing Summary Judgment

Ryans asked the trial court to strike Renton's motion for summary judgment under CR 56(f) because Renton's witnesses were not prepared to respond to Ryans' deposition topics and acknowledged that material discovery documents had been withheld. CP 552-54, 563-65.

Ryans' response articulated 11 genuine issues of material fact for the jury that barred summary judgment. CP 557-63. Attached was a detailed expert report by Ryans' traffic engineer expert William Neuman, PE, who detailed multiple ways Talbot was "unusually dangerous and deceptive at the time of this accident and that Renton had multiple opportunities and time to notice and install the proper markings prior to this accident but they never did." CP 591 (CP 550-764, generally).

#### G. Continuance Denied, Summary Judgment Granted

At the November 21, 2022, summary judgment oral argument, Ryans explained why the court should enter a CR 56(f) continuance. RP 168:4-176:18. Ryans detailed how they diligently pursued discovery, but the court resisted their efforts. *Id. See also* CP 550-764 (detailing why continuance required).

Ryans reminded the court that it had prohibited Ryans from deposing Renton until Renton first deposed Ryans, which

it never did. RP 153:2-9 (*see* RP 119:14-16). Ryans understood the court clearly on June 3, 2022, as did Renton. RP 171:23-172:5.

Also, the court had sanctioned Ryans over \$4,900 in April 2022 for seeking a CR 26(c) protective order which they understood they were CR 37(a)(4)-justified seeking (CP 968-69, 976-78), so Ryans dared not risk even larger CR 37 sanctions if the court denied their motion. RP 172:9-174:14.

Finally, Ryans pointed out that they had brought the matters to the court's attention repeatedly, by way of other motions and notifications. RP 150:13-152:18; 174:15-175:18. Though the court said it "doesn't address discovery motions in an email" (RP 152:7-9), email was how the court addressed Ryans' 30(b)(6) deposition topics. *See, e.g.*, CP 951-52.

Ryans also argued that many CR 56(c) genuine issues of material fact existed that barred summary judgment. RP 144:9-12. First, Ryans addressed that there were missing RPMs at the time of the collision (RP 144:12-147:3) which were required to be in place by Renton's Channelization Markers Detail Standard Plan Channelization Standard Plan 109 (Ex G (CP 608-12)). RP 147:6-149:6. Ryans addressed the court's question "how would those RPMs have made a difference with respect to this accident?" (RP 147:9-10) by describing how the required approach line (Ex G (CP 608-12)) would have visually alerted Wiitanen (RP 149:8-9); acted as a sort of rumble strip (RP 158:25-160:19; 163:8-166:18); and met the MUTCD standard of uniformity in marking (with 55th) (RP 160:20-162:21).

#### H. Renton Granted Summary Judgment Dismissal

The trial court denied Ryans' motion for CR 56(f) summary judgment denial or continuance to allow Ryans' discovery. CP 941-44.

#### I. Court Denied Ryans' Motion for Reconsideration

Ryans motioned the court to reconsider Renton's summary judgment dismissal (CP 853-88, 896-928), pointing out that Renton's Eric Cutshall testified that RPMs can have a rumble strip effect (CP 782:6-783:25) and Renton's Chris Barnes testified that "buttons [RPMs] make noise." CP 788:13-14. Also, Ryans pointed out that Neuman made clear that "When the only traffic control devises present are RPMs **they are clearly not Supplemental.**" (CP 581) (emphasis in original), contrary to the court's ruling that the RPMs were discretionary and supplemental in this case. CP 948.

Ryans further distinguished the speculative expert testimony in *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 145, 34 P.3d 835 (2001), and *Stofleth v. Cosgrave*, No. 83183-64 (April 25, 2022) (unpublished) (CP 949), arguing that the court assumed all facts and reasonable inferences *against* Ryans, rather than *for* Ryans. CP 863.

The court denied Ryans' motion for reconsideration (CP 933-34), so Ryans appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division I.

#### VI. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A trial court's denial of a CR 56(f) motion for continuance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue*, 161 Wn.2d 353, 358, 166 P.3d 667 (2007). A trial court's grant of CR 56(c) summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Id.* "The process of applying the law to the facts ... is a question of law and is subject to de novo review." *Tapper v. Employment Security Dep't*, 122 Wn.2d 397, 403, 858 P.2d 494 (1993). "The existence of a duty is a question of law." *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 671, 958 P. 2d 301 (1998). "Questions of law and conclusions of law are reviewed de novo." *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation Dist. v. Dickie*, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003).

#### VII. ARGUMENT

## A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Court of Appeals and Supreme Court Decisions Permitting a Party to Make the Record Complete before Ruling on Summary Judgment

The trial court abused its discretion by preventing Ryans

from deposing Renton for 4 <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> months. Ryans could not

prosecute their case and defend summary judgment. The

affirming Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with In re Estate

of Fitzgerald, 172 Wn. App. 437, 448, 294 P.3d 720 (2012)

("where good reasons are established as to why [discovery] cannot be timely obtained, the trial court must "accord the parties a reasonable opportunity to make the record complete before ruling on a motion for summary judgment." (quoting *Lewis v. Bell*, 45 Wn. App. 192, 196, 724 P.2d 425 (1986))).

The trial court abused its discretion by forbidding Ryans from deposing Renton until and unless Renton deposed Ryans (for which Ryans made themselves available before and after June 3, 2022). The Ryans were in a no-win situation. "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

The trial court then repeatedly narrowed and delayed Ryans' deposition of Renton such that discovery closed 11 days before the deposition finally occurred on October 21, 2022. CP 956. This was just seven days before Ryans' response to summary judgment was due. CP 63, 962.

#### 1. Witnesses unprepared, discovery withheld

Ryans presented the trial court enormous evidence that Renton's witnesses came unprepared to answer Ryans' List of Topics, and Renton had withheld material evidence to defend summary judgment. CP 550-69. Cutshall did not know many times he replaced RPMs on Talbot prior to the collision. CP 784:25-785:5. Barnes never searched for photos, videos, drawings, reports, and studies showing the condition of the collision vicinity other than the few zoomed-out Google Earth photos Renton produced. CP 560, 709:6-17. He never conducted a search of contract plans or work orders for Talbot (CP 553, 704:10-16), despite work orders kept forever. CP 553, 679:1-4.

Barnes never conducted a search of other claims of damages in the collision vicinity. CP 553, 704:18-705:9. He testified he could not answer whether or when Talbot was repaved, refreshed (in terms or marking or overlay), overlaid, or why approach lines were not added when bike lanes were added

to Talbot, as he had only been with Renton since 2007 and overlaying was a different department. CP 553-54, 707:1-708:9.

Barnes testified he had no information regarding traffic deviations for Talbot. CP 554, 697:18-699:16. He testified that Renton had no standard for maintaining RPMs. CP 554, 700:16-703:6. All of these topics were listed on Ryans' CR 30(b)(6) List of Topics deposition notice for October 21, 2022 (CP 541-49), allowed by the court (CP 951), and provided to Renton originally five months earlier. CP 219-31.

Barnes confirmed that Renton possessed responsive discovery it did not produce, including a map, photographs taken at 5 minute intervals, an AASHTO table, and a NACTO design guide regarding the July 28, 2015, citizen complaint leading to a visit and study of Talbot on September 23, 2015. CP 552, 682:19-683:9. He also testified that Renton never produced another citizen complaint. CP 552-53, 684:19-685:5.

Barnes admitted that Renton never produced traffic counts made of Talbot (CP 553, 685:6-687:25) nor three

collision reports. CP 553, 688:9-21. Most shocking was when Barnes testified that Renton annexed Talbot in 1978, not 2007 as Renton maintained up until that moment. CP 553, 690:5-691:7.

#### 2. Court of Appeals decision conflicts with caselaw

The trial court abused its discretion by barring Ryans from prosecuting their case and defending summary judgment. The trial court's decision, and the Court of Appeals' decision affirming it, conflicts with *In re Estate of Fitzgerald*, 172 Wn. App. 437, 448, 294 P.3d 720 (2012), which holds "where good reasons are established as to why [discovery] cannot be timely obtained, the trial court must "accord the parties a reasonable opportunity to make the record complete before ruling on a motion for summary judgment." (quoting *Lewis v. Bell*, 45 Wn. App. 192, 196, 724 P.2d 425 (1986)).

Ryans presented the court convincing evidence that Renton's witnesses came unprepared to answer the List of Topics and that Renton had withheld material evidence to defend summary judgment. CP 550-69. Most telling was that only near the end of the deposition did Renton reveal that it annexed Talbot in 1978 (CP 553, 690:5-691:7), not in 2007 as Renton had declared four months earlier in its discovery responses. CP 723. Ryans were substantially prejudiced in preparing for trial, preparing for and conducting the deposition, and defending summary judgment. It was an abuse of discretion not to continue the hearing to permit Ryans more discovery.

Ryans met the three elements of *Fitzgerald* to merit a continuance, as Ryans offered a good reason for the delay (which included the court's prohibition on deposing Renton), established the evidence they needed (repeatedly articulated in Ryans' deposition Lists of Topics and propounded interrogatories and requests for production), and the desired evidence went directly to genuine issues of material fact. *Id.*, 172 Wn. App. at 448 (citing *Lewis*, 45 Wn. App. at 196).

Moreover, Ryans repeatedly informed the trial court that Renton had not answered written discovery completely. Ryans

motioned the court to change the trial date (CP 65-85), explaining that "Defense counsel are slow-walking their discovery and motions until time runs out." CP 67:9-10. On October 20, 2022, Ryans motioned the court to extend time to respond to summary judgment due to financial constraints and Renton's ongoing refusal to answer written discovery. CP 870-72.

The Court of Appeals erred by failing to apply the key points of *Magaña v. Hyundai Motor America*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 220 P.3d 191 (2009), which make clear that defendants should not benefit from discovery abuse by prejudicing plaintiffs in preparing for trial and that plaintiffs need not motion to compel defendants to answer discovery timely and fully:

> The discovery requested should have been given to Magaña in a timely manner. Magaña need not have continually requested more discovery and updates on existing requests. Additionally Magaña should not have needed to file a motion for an order to compel Hyundai to produce the documents Hyundai was required to produce by the discovery requests themselves, nor does this opinion rest on the existence of a discovery order.

Magaña, 167 Wn.2d 570 at ¶ 33.

The Court should extend *Magaña* from its CR 37(d) sanction-against-discovery-violat<u>or</u> setting to this CR 56(f) continuance-for-discovery-violat<u>ee</u> setting. Granting a CR 56(f) continuance is a less extreme remedy than entering a CR 37(d) default judgment.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Every Washington Case Involving CR 56(c) Summary Judgment Denial for Any Genuine Issue of Material Fact

Washington adopted summary judgment in 1955. Philip

A. Trautman, Motions for Summary Judgment: Their Use and

Effect in Washington, 45 WASH. L. REV. 1 n.3 (1970). Every

Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decision since has applied

the same standard:

In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court must consider the material evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom most favorably to the nonmovant party and, when so considered, if reasonable men might reach different conclusions, the motion should be denied because a genuine issue as to a material fact is presented. *Wood v. City of Seattle*, 57 Wn.2d 469, 473, 358 P.2d 140 (1960) (en banc).

Under the Washington Constitution, "[t]he right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Wash. const, art. I, § 21. "The term 'inviolate' connotes deserving of the highest protection" and "indicates that the right must remain the essential component of our legal system that it has always been." *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wash.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711, 780 P.2d 260 (1989). The right "must not diminish over time and must be protected from all assaults to its essential guaranties." *Id.* At its core, the right of trial by jury guarantees litigants the right to have a jury resolve questions of disputed material facts.

Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn. 2d 269, 288-89, 351 P.3d 862 (2015).

The Court of Appeals' decision upholds a radical

departure from this standard and must be overruled. Ryans have

been wrongly denied their constitutional right to trial.

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