FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/30/2024 12:59 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1034164

Court of Appeals, Division I No. 850156

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GREGORY RYAN AND NEREYDA RYAN,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

CITY OF RENTON and DANIEL WIITANAN,

Defendants/Respondents.

RESPONDENT CITY OF RENTON'S ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

TREATED AS ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GREGORY E. JACKSON WSBA #17541 Jackson & Nicholson, PLLC 900 SW 16th Street, Suite 215 Renton, WA 98057 (206) 582-6001 Attorney for Respondent City of Renton

I.	INTRODUCTION		
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE1		
III.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED		
	A.	The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2)	
	B.	The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With CR 56(c) 12	
	C.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict the Decision of This Court in <i>Ruff v.</i> <i>County of King</i> , 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995)	
	D.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict With Existing Case Law Regarding Notice	
IV.	CONCLUSION		

<u>Cases</u>

Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)12				
<i>In re Estate of Fitzgerald</i> , 172 Wn. App. 437, 448, 294 P.3d 720 (2012) passim				
<i>Lewis v. Bell</i> , 45 Wn. App. 192, 196, 724 P.2d (1986)5, 6, 7, 8				
<i>Magana v. Hyundai Motor America</i> , 167 Wn.2d 570, 220 P.3d 191 (2009)11				
<i>Ruff v. County of King</i> , 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995)12, 13				
Rules				

RAP 10.3(a)	5)	13	3
-------------	----	----	---

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent City of Renton requests that the Court deny Petitioners Gregory and Nereyda Ryan's motion for discretionary review of the June 10, 2024, Decision of Division One of the Washington State Court of Appeals affirming the superior court's summary judgment dismissal of their claims (Appendix A to Petitioners' Motion) and the July 29, 2024, Order of the Court of Appeals Denying the Ryans' Motion for Reconsideration. (Appendix B to Petitioners' Motion).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners Gregory and Nereyda Ryan, husband and wife, and Co-Defendant Daniel Wiitanen were involved in a two-vehicle head-on collision on S. Talbot Rd in the City of Renton on March 13, 2016. CP 5 (¶ 5.1.) Petitioners averred that Co-Defendant Wiitanen drove negligently when his vehicle veered into the opposite lane of travel and collided with Petitioner's vehicle that was traveling in the opposite direction. CP 3 (¶ 4.7).

Co-Defendant Wiitanen's Answer to Appellants' Complaint admitted that the allegations alleging his fault were true. CP 10 (¶¶ 4.7, 4.8, 4.9). Furthermore, Co-Defendant Wiitanen admitted liability through declaration: "I believe that I fell asleep while driving. I awoke to the sound of honking, which I believe came from Gregory Ryan's vehicle. The collision occurred at almost that same moment.... I do not believe that any other individual or circumstance contributed to the causation of the collision." CP 105.

Talbot Rd. at the point of impact between the vehicles is comprised of one lane in each direction separated by a center line comprised of split yellow raised pavement markers (RPMs). CP 128, CP 581, CP 126. North of the point of impact, S. Talbot Rd. is configured with a center turn lane that allows northbound and southbound traffic to make left-hand turns across the roadway. CP 130. Appellant's Complaint alleged that Respondent "City of Renton failed to design, maintain, or operate Talbot Road South in a reasonably safe condition." CP 3 (¶ 4.5).

Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment at the superior court was granted based upon Petitioners' failure to present evidence that Respondent breached a duty to design and maintain S. Talbot Rd. in a condition that is reasonably safe for ordinary travel and based upon Petitioners' failure to present evidence that Respondent's negligence was a proximate cause of Petitioners' injuries. Appendix A to Amended Petition, pg. 3. The trial court also denied Petitioners' motion to continue the summary judgment hearing so that Petitioners could take Significantly, Section IV Issues additional discovery. Id. Presented for Review, A-D, of the Petition, does not challenge the decision of the trial court or the Court of Appeals that Petitioners failed to establish that the alleged highway defects were a proximate cause of their injuries. See Appendix A to Amended Petition, pgs. 2 and 3.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the summary judgment dismissal of Petitioners' Complaint and affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioners' CR 56(f) motion to continue the summary judgment hearing based upon Petitioners' failure to provide a good reason for the delay in obtaining the desired evidence, Petitioners' failure to state what evidence would be established through more discovery, and Petitioners' failure to state that the desired evidence would raise a genuine issue of material fact. Appendix A to Amended Petition, pg. 5.

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners' motion for discretionary review should be denied because Petitioners fail to present any evidence or argument that review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b), that provides in pertinent part that review will be accepted if:

(1) the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;(2) If the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals;

(3) If the petition involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; or(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Petitioners' Motion for Discretionary Review fails to establish any of the four requisite criteria for RAP 13.4(b) review, and therefore the Amended Petition for Review should be denied.

A. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(2)

Petitioners' claim that the Court of Appeals decision to affirm the denial of Petitioners' motion for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing pursuant to CR 56(f) conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals is not supported by the record before this Court. The Court of Appeals decisions *In re Estate of Fitzgerald*, 172 Wn. App. 437, 448, 294 P.3d 720 (2012), and *Lewis v. Bell*, 45 Wn. App. 192, 196, 724 P.2d (1986), relied upon by Petitioners, supports rather than conflicts with the decision of the Court of Appeals here. Geraldine and John Lewis appealed the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of their outrage suit against Danial and Nancy Bell. *Lewis v. Bell*, 45 Wn. App. 192, at 193. The Lewises argued on appeal that the trial court erred in denying their motion to continue the summary judgment hearing until they could complete discovery by taking the depositions of the Bells. *Id.* at 196. The Court of Appeals explained that CR 56(f) provides a remedy for parties who have a good reason to continue a summary judgment hearing:

When a trial court has been shown a good reason why an affidavit of a material witness cannot be obtained in time for a summary judgment proceeding, the court has a duty to accord the parties a reasonable opportunity to make the record complete before ruling on a motion for summary judgment. *Cofer v. County of Pierce*, supra.

Lewis v. Bell, 45 Wn. App. at 196. The Lewises, however, did not have a good reason for why they could not obtain the depositions of the Bells before the summary judgment hearing and therefore the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of the request for a continuance of summary judgment hearing and affirmed the dismissal.

No explanation was given as to why Nancy and Robert Bell had not been deposed during the 16 months the action was pending. The Lewises failed to even speculate as to what evidence they hoped to establish through the depositions or what genuine issues of material fact would be developed. In view of this, it cannot be said denial of the request for a continuance was a manifest abuse of discretion. See *Jankelson v. Cisel, 3 Wash. App.* 139, 473 P.2d 202 (1970).

Lewis v. Bell, Id. at 196.

The Court's decision *In re Estate of Fitzgerald*, 172 Wn. App. 437 is no more helpful to Petitioners than the Court of Appeals decision in *Lewis*. Mountain-West Resources Inc. appealed the superior court's determination that its creditors' claims against the estate of Fitzgerald were time-barred in the probate hearing. *In re Estate of Fitzgerald*, *Id.* at 440. Mountain-West argued that the Commissioner of the superior court erred when the Commissioner denied their motion to continue the TEDRA hearing until after Mountain-West took additional discovery. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Commissioner's decision to deny Mountain-West's motion to continue the hearing by analogizing the request to a party who requested the continuance of a summary judgment hearing pursuant to CR 56(f).

[i]n the context of a summary judgment proceeding, we will not disturb a trial court's decision to deny a continuance absent a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion. *Lewis v. Bell*, 45 Wash.App. 192, 196–97, 724 P.2d 425 (1986). In such proceedings, where good reasons are established as to why the affidavit of a material witness cannot be timely obtained, the trial court must "accord the parties a reasonable opportunity to make the record complete before ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Lewis, 45 Wash. App.* 196, 724 P.2d 425.

In re Estate of Fitzgerald Id at 449. Thus, *Lewis* and *In re Fitzgerald* stand for the proposition that when a party identifies a good reason for requesting a continuance pursuant to CR 56(f), the trial court must give the party an opportunity to make his or her record. The cases do not stand for the proposition that a trial court should grant a motion for the continuance of

summary judgment hearing when the requesting party, as Petitioners in this case, offer no reason at all.

The decision of the Court of Appeals, like the decision of

the superior court before it, correctly cited the applicable law:

[A] continuance is properly denied where (1) the requesting party does not offer a good reason for the delay in obtaining the desired evidence, (2) the requesting party does not state what evidence would be established through the additional discovery, or (3) the desired evidence will not raise a genuine issue of material fact." <u>Fitzgerald,</u> 172 Wn. App. at 488 (citing Lewis, 45 Wn. App. at 196).

Appendix A to Amended Petition, pg. 4.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Lewis* and *Fitzgerald*, and correctly determined that Petitioners failed to offer a good reason for the delay in obtaining discovery; that Petitioners did not identify the evidence that they expected to obtain from the additional discovery; and that Petitioners did not explain how the requested evidence would create an issue of fact. Appendix A to Amended Petition, pg. 5. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with other decisions of the

Court of Appeals, but follows *Lewis, Fitgerald*, and CR 56(f) case law explicitly.

Petitioners' additional claims that the Court of Appeals erred in its failure to find that Petitioners were prejudiced at the summary judgment hearing by the delay in taking Respondent's CR 30(b)(6) representatives' depositions, and by what Petitioners describe as the lack of preparation of certain of the CR 30(b)(6) witnesses, are not properly before this Court because the trial court and the Court of Appeals can hardly be faulted for the failure to enforce a discovery order that the Petitioners never obtained. It is undisputed that Petitioners, after multiple months of litigation, never filed a motion to compel discovery. Appendix A to Amended Petition, pg. 7. It is also undisputed that Petitioners never explained to the trial court or to the Court of Appeals how the allegedly missing evidence would have created a disputed issue of material fact. Appendix A, Id. The Court of Appeals properly determined that the issued was not properly before the Court because

Petitioners failed to file a motion to compel for the allegedly missing discovery in the trial court. "Plaintiffs did not file a discovery motion, a point which arose during oral argument on the motion for summary judgment... Finally, the Court notes that Plaintiff's counsel in his declaration does not identify how specific evidence he seeks would create a disputed issue of material fact..." Absent a motion to compel the discovery that Petitioners claim is missing, and absent a showing that the allegedly missing discovery would have created a material fact, the trial court and the Court of Appeals decision to deny Petitioners' request for a continuance for this discovery was proper and not a manifest abuse of discretion.

Petitioners' citation to *Magana v. Hyundai Motor America*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 220 P.3d 191 (2009) is misplaced. As noted by the Court of Appeals, the issue in *Magana* was the appropriate sanctions to be applied for discovery violations pursuant to CR 37. *Magana* did not address the requirements to continue a summary judgment pursuant to CR 56(f). The *Magana* decision and CR 37 sanctions have no applicability to the current decision of the Court of Appeals at all.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With CR 56(c)

Petitioners fail to identify a single case to support Petitioners' claim that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with "Every Washington Case Involving CR 56(c)." Appendix A, Amended Petition for Review, pg. 20. The failure of Petitioners to cite any case to support their argument is strong evidence that no such case or conflict exists. The failure of Petitioners to advance argument or citations to evidence in the record to support their arguments precludes appellate review. RAP 10.3(a)(5). *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

C. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict the Decision of This Court in *Ruff v. County* of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995).

Petitioners' claim that the Court of Appeals decision expands or conflicts with this Court's decision in *Ruff v. County* *of King*, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 P.2d 886 (1995) is specious. The Court of Appeals decision accurately stated that "a municipality need not update every road to present-day standards." Appendix A, Amended Petition for Review, pg. 9. The quote is taken directly from *Ruff*:

We recognize that the duty to maintain a roadway is a reasonable condition may require a county to post warning signs or erect barriers if the condition along the roadway makes it inherently dangerous or of such character as to mislead a traveler exercising reasonable care, or where the maintenance of signs or barriers is prescribed by law. This duty does not, however, require a county to update every road and roadway structure to present-day standards.

Ruff v. County of King, 125 Wn.2d 697, Id. at 705 (citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Ruff*, nor does it expand it. The Court of Appeals decision correctly determined:

But the Ryans present no evidence that the City was required to make such improvements, inspect Talbot Road S. more often, or replace RPMs more often than once every other year. The City did not design Talbot Road S. and was not required to update the road even if the standard or guideline in 2016 called for a double strip of RPMs in the approach to the intersection. <u>Ruff</u>, 125 Wn.2d at 706.

Appendix A to Amended Petition for Review pg. 11.

D. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Conflict With Existing Case Law Regarding Notice

Petitioners' claim that Respondent City of Renton had constructive notice that missing RPMs on S. Talbot Rd. created a hazardous condition is unsupported by the record. The Court of Appeals, assuming that some RPMs were missing, correctly ruled that Petitioners failed to present evidence that the RPMs,

even if missing, created a dangerous or hazardous condition.

Neuman's belief that the road markings were defective, without more, is insufficient to create a genuine issue as to whether the City breached its duty to maintain Talbot Road S. in a manner reasonable safe for ordinary travel....Without a complaint of missing RPMs or notice of a dangerous condition due to center line visibility or confusion, the City's duty cannot reasonably include inspection of this portion of Talbot Road. S. more often than it already does or replacement of each RMP at the moment it wears out or goes missing. Appendix A, Amended Petition for Review, pg. 12. Petitioners fail to identify any evidence to support their claim that Respondent City of Renton had actual or constructive notice of missing RPMs, but more importantly, Petitioners fail to present any evidence that the allegedly missing RPMs created a hazard or unreasonable risk of injury to motorists that Respondent was required to correct.

IV. CONCLUSION

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